
 
 

Town of Claverack  
Zoning Board of Appeals 

P.O. Box V 
Mellenville, NY 12544 

 
Minutes: July 28, 2010 

7:30 p.m. 
 

APPROVED 8/25/10 
 
Chairman Frank Clegg called the July 28, 2010 meeting of the Town of Claverack Zoning Board of 
Appeals to order at 7:30 p.m. 
Members in attendance were: Chairman Frank Clegg, Stephen Melnyk, David Graziano, Norma Barnard, 
Oliver Milot, Attorneys; Nelson Alford and Rob Fitzsimmons, Engineer; Joe Romano, Secretary; Jodi 
Keyser 
Absent: Jock Winch and Paul Gundrum 
Chairman Clegg led members of the Board and audience with the Pledge of Allegiance 
 
Correspondence 
 
Motion to accept the minutes of May 26, 2010 was made by David Graziano with a second from Norma 
Barnard. All members were in favor. Motion carried. 
 
Continuing Board cases for 7/28/10: 
 
Mariner Tower II LLC: Tax Map # (SBL)143 . – 1 – 08  Located at 1631 County Rte. 11 Stop 100 
Craryville Special Exception for development of new public utility/telecommunications facility including 
a monopole tower. 
Chris Ciolfi representing Mariner Tower also in attendance were Kevin Brennan and James Woodward 
representing AT&T. Mr. Ciolfi submitted a viewshed report and supporting maps for the recent balloon 
float on May 22nd. Mr. Ciolfi stated that the photos simulate a 180’ tower. The tower will be visible from 
Rte. 23 and the TSP. Mr. Ciolfi also addressed the Clough Harbour report from Joe Romano. Chairman 
Frank Clegg asked what the approximate area of coverage that will be added by the tower. Mr. Ciolfi 
stated that approximately 12 square miles will be gained about 3 miles in each direction. Mr. Ciolfi stated 
that the hills west of the TSP limit the coverage area but he is currently working on another site in 
Hollowville to extend coverage past the TSP to the west. Mr. Ciolfi stated that he feels that he has 
submitted sufficient documentation and technical reviews and reports to show adequate need for a tower at 
the Mariner site. Stephen Melnyk asked Mr. Ciolfi if he was aware that there was another cellular tower 
being proposed close to this site before he submitted the application. Mr. Ciolfi stated that he was not 
aware of the Homeland site when he submitted his application. Mr. Ciolfi noted that the Mariner 
application was submitted prior to the Homeland application. Mr. Ciolif stated that he has done extensive 
research of the Mariner site for the past few years, has a signed lease with AT&T, and is currently 
working in the areas of Ancram and Copake to extend coverage. Chairman Clegg asked if Mariner was the 
company that was looking to build a tower along the TSP a few years ago. Mr. Ciolfi stated that it was not 
his company but was likely Crown Castle. Mr. Ciolfi stated that his company is looking to provide service 
for AT&T along the TSP and Rte. 23 in an area which Crown Castle and Homeland towers will not reach.   
Mr. Ciolfi stated that the monopole tower will be 180’ galvanized monopole tower. Mr. Ciolfi stated that 
the company decided on a galvanized tower instead of a painted tower because it weather well getting a 
nice patina. Mr. Ciolfi added that he has been in contact with the Taconic Hills School District for 
coverage in the District area. Mr. Ciolfi stated that the Homeland tower and Crown Castle towers will not 
be able to provide this coverage. Mr. Ciolfi stated that THSD is not opposed to the site but will not 



endorse the Mariner tower either because the school district wants the tower on district property. 
Chairman Clegg asked how many antennae would be housed on the tower. Mr. Ciolfi stated that he hopes 
that the tower will be as full as possible but possibly 5 – 6 antenna will be housed but the tower is built to 
hold many antennae. Mr. Ciolfi also stated that his company has also offered space to the County and 
Town of Claverack rent-free. Mr. Ciolfi stated that this tower is not required to be lit because it is under 
the 200’ FAA threshhold. Mr. Ciolfi stated that this tower is a piece to the larger puzzle to provide 
uninterrupted service and will effect the future towers currently in negotiations.  Chairman Clegg asked 
the approximate distance between the Homeland tower and Mariner tower. Mr. Ciolfi stated that the 
towers are approximately 2,000 +/- feet apart. Mr. Alford asked if a Area Variance in needed for the 
Mariner site. Mr. Ciolfi stated yes because of the need for 150% of tower fall zone. Joe Romano addressed 
the review letter from Clough Harbour. Joe Romano stated that he knows that the question will be asked 
which tower is better. Mr. Romano stated that the engineering review found that these are two different 
applicants with two different carriers seeking to extend coverage for their clients into different areas. Mr. 
Romano stated that he can’t support AT&T going on to the Homeland tower or Verizon going on to the 
Mariner tower. Chairman Frank Clegg asked if they are seeking the same area of coverage. Joe Romano 
stated no they are seeking to provide service to two different areas. Mr. Ciolfi referred to the propagation 
report and the need for stronger signals for houses and structures along the Rte 23 help the THSD and 
strengthen coverage along the TSP to the west and southwest. Mr. Ciolfi stated that AT&T was in 
discussion with the Village of Philmont prior to Homeland but Philmont made RFP and sent the project to 
bid. Homeland then won the bid. Then AT&T approached the Mariner tower and asked if the Cullen 
property was still available and directed Mariner to proceed with a proposal for that property. Kevin 
Brennan representing AT&T confirmed that his company was in negotiations with the Village of Philmont 
and even had a good faith agreement with the village on the Forest Lake property to build two separate 
towers in the village but the village elected to send the proposal to bid. Mr. Brennan informed the Board 
that the Cullen site is not a one site deal but AT&T is looking to develop many different sites to expand 
service throughout the county. Mr. Brennan stated that in the best case scenario if the geography of the 
area were flat the coverage would extend further but with the hills and valleys there is a need for a tower 
every 6 or so miles apart. Mr. Brennan stated that AT&T has a different objective then the Homeland 
tower therefore an antenna on the Homeland tower would not meet this objective. Mr. Ciolfi stated that he 
was mistaken regarding the Public hearing and sent out certified mailings to the abutters last month. Mr. 
Alford informed the Board members that if they were satisfied with the supporting documentation then a 
public hearing can be set for the August 25, 2010 meeting. David Graziano stated that a report should be 
conducted to find if there are any cultural resources on the site and a curb cut will need to be submitted. 
Mr. Ciolfi agreed and stated that he has contacted NYSOPRHP and DOT but without an approval on the 
project they will not even look at the project. Public hearing set for August 25, 2010. Mr. Ciolfi was 
instructed to send out certified mailing to the abutters and municipalities. Mr. Ciolfi was also instructed to 
obtain a sign noticing the public hearing from the Town office and display the sign no later then 2 weeks 
prior to the meeting. Proof of certified mailing will be provided to the ZBA Secretary. 
 
Homeland Towers LLC NYNEX Mobile Limited Partnership 2 d/b/a Verizon Wireless:  
 Tax Map # (SBL)143 . – 1 – 42  Balance of Interest test for proposed Telecommunications facility at 
Forest Lake, Philmont NY 
Mr. Gaudioso, Mr. Andrus, and Mr. Vicente were representing the application. Mr. Gaudioso submitted a 
full visual analysis report showing no visual impact and that the tower is not visible. Mr. Gaudioso 
reminded the Board that the site is the current home of the Rip Van Winkle Amateur Radio Club using a 
whip antenna. Mr. Gaudioso stated that his company has been in negotiations with the Rip Van Winkle 
Amateur Radio Club and have agreed to install their antenna to the Homeland tower free of charge which 
will make for a stronger signal for the club. Mr. Gaudioso informed the Board that the agreement is in 
principle and is not yet in writing. Mr. Gaudioso explained that the Homeland tower proposal matches the 
Town of Claverack Code by replacing an existing antenna on Village of Philmont property with a stronger 
antenna. Mr. Gaudioso also informed the Board that their plan is for a 180’ monopole antenna to be 
painted sky blue which cost more then a galvanized pole but they will do whatever the Board asks. Mr. 
Gaudioso reminded the Board members that he previously submitted a letter of support from the Village 



of Philmont. Mr. Gaudioso informed the Board that his company was in negotiations with a neighboring 
property owner when the Village of Philmont approached with Forest Lake property. Mr. Gaudioso stated 
that the Mariner tower representatives were aware of the Homeland application prior to submitting their 
application. Mr. Gaudioso stated that he submitted the NYSOPRHP report showing no adverse impact and 
approval letter from the Columbia County Planning Department. Mr. Gaudioso stated that Homeland 
tower’s objective is to provide stronger signals for Verizon along the Rte 23 corridor and along the 
Taconic State Parkway and that any further coverage southeast of this site will require another tower due 
to the topography. Chairman Clegg asked if a fence would be installed at the site. Mr. Gaudioso stated 
affirmative a locked, secured cyclone fence will be installed and monitored remotely for safety. Mr. 
Andrus, Radio Frequency engineer for Verizon, explained the topography of the area and the need for a 
tower at the Homeland site. Mr. Andrus stated that his company is currently in negotiations with the Town 
of Ghent and Village of Philmont for other sites to cover gaps in coverage for Columbia County. Mr. 
Alford reminded the Board that Verizon representatives are also looking into sites in Copake, Hillsdale, 
and Ancram areas. Mr. Andrus stated that the main objective is to gain stronger signal and better coverage 
along the Rte 23 corridor and the Taconic State Parkway. Mr. Gaudioso stated that the tower at full 
buildout will hold approximately 6 carriers. Norma Barnard asked if the tower will be required to have 
FAA lighting. Mr. Gaudioso stated no because it is under the 200’ FAA restriction. Stephen Melnyk asked 
why the applicant is not seeking to build the tower to the maximum height. Mr. Gaudioso stated that his 
company is currently seeking the minimum height but would have no problem making higher. Stephen 
Melnyk stated that he would be interested to see a study showing that if the tower were built higher if the 
strength and coverage area would be better. Mr. Andrus and Mr. Gaudioso stated that it would not make 
any difference because the topography of the area is restrictive. Mr. Andrus supplied topographical maps 
and explained the problems with providing coverage everywhere. Mr. Gaudioso stated that in order for 
Verizon to extend coverage to the THSD and beyond there will be a need for future towers. Mr. Alford 
informed the applicant that if the Board is satisfied with the submitted material they could set the public 
hearing for the August 25, 2010 meeting. Mr. Alford also informed the Board members that there are 
many issues to address with both tower applications i.e. set backs, variance, request for immunity, 
SEQRA, and Special Use Permit. Set Public hearing for August 25, 2010. Mr. Gaudioso was instructed to 
send notice of the public hearing to the abutters and municipalities. Mr. Gaudioso was also instructed to 
obtain a sign noticing the public hearing from the Town Office and display the sign no later then two 
weeks prior to the scheduled public hearing. Mr. Gaudioso will provide proof of certified mailing to the 
ZBA Secretary. 
 
Rob Fitzsimmons enters meeting. 
Danyell C. Ray dba Georgia Ray’s Kitchen LLC: Tax Map #(SBL) 101 . – 1 – 56 . 100 Located at 9 
Ginsberg Lane. Seeking Special Exception and Site Plan Review for catering business, retail food sales, 
and residential living area. 
 
Kathleen Christiano was present to represent the application. Ms. Christiano informed the Board that her 
client, Mr. Ray currently has a binder on the property located at 9 Ginsberg Lane in Claverack. Ms. 
Christiano stated that Mr. Ray is seeking to relocate his catering business from 149 Joslen Blvd. to the 
property, operate a small retail food business, and renovate the loft area into his personal residence. Ms. 
Christiano stated that the loft area would be one large open room with a bathroom and kitchen area 
containing moveable walls or dividers but no permanent walls dividing the space. Chairman Clegg stated 
that the septic system was previously approved for a business so it should be adequate enough for a 1 
bedroom living area. Joe Romano asked if the proposed use expected to exceed the previous use. Rob 
Fitzsimmons stated that the use for the building is the same being that of a commercial kitchen, which is 
located in the HC zone. Rob Fitzsimmons stated that the 2 uses are allowed within the HC zone with the 
approval of a Special Exception and a Site Plan for the entire project including lighting plan, parking plan, 
etc. Ms. Christiano informed the Board that her client will serve breakfast and lunch items for off premise 
only. Joe Romano asked if there were any changes to the parking area. Ms. Christiano stated that there 
were changes that were depicted on the drawing with residential parking in the rear of the building. Joe 
Romano asked that the parking plan be made clearer because he was having a difficult time figuring out 



what is old and what is new. Chairman Clegg stated that he read in the application that Mr. Ray intends to 
employ 3 or 4 wait staff. Ms. Christiano informed the Board that the 3 - 4 wait staff is not work at the 
business but meet at the site of the catering job. Chairman Clegg asked if the applicant plans to make any 
changes to the lighting. Ms. Christiano stated that they are looking to install a more environmentally 
friendly lighting to the building. Stephen Melnyk asked for details of the new lighting. Rob Fitzsimmons 
stated that the Building Code does not call for any specific candle watt. Joe Romano stated that he needs a 
detailed lighting plan. Chairman Clegg asked what the proposed hours of operation would be. Ms. 
Christiano stated that the catering business is a 7 day a week 24 hour a day operation and the retail 
business would be 7:30 a.m. to approximately 6:00 or 6:30 p.m. 7 days a week. Stephen Melnyk asked 
about the signage. Ms. Christiano stated that she had a question about the signage. Ms. Christiano 
informed the Board that there is an existing sign on the station for the former business which is 4’ X 8’ 
and if they were required to hang a smaller sign it would look out of place. Ms. Christiano stated that the 
other sign is on the front of the building and the plan is to replace that sign with a sign of the same size. 
Rob Fitzsimmons informed Ms. Christiano that a letter from Ginsberg’s granting use of the private 
roadway should be submitted along with the maintenance agreement for the roadway. David Graziano 
informed Ms. Christiano that the Board will need to have the maps and title block cleaned up. Chairman 
Clegg asked if there were grease traps. Ms. Christiano stated that grease traps were installed by the 
previous operator as per Site Plan. Joe Romano stated that the dumpster, lighting, and parking details need 
to be shown on the maps. Rob Fitzsimmons informed Ms. Christiano that she must submit official maps 
from the architect, which have a raised seal. Oliver Milot asked if the applicant could submit maps with a 
better orientation. Oliver Milot then asked what the freezer and cooler were on the map. Ms. Christiano 
stated that the plan calls for an outside freezer and cooler on a slap of concrete with a space that juts out at 
the rear of the building for deliveries. Joe Romano asked if the parking area is planned for gravel or 
pavement. Ms. Christiano stated that it is not yet decided but would take the direction of the ZBA. Joe 
Romano asked if the plan expands the parking area. Ms. Christiano stated yes two spaces in the front and 
the small delivery area at the rear.  Current owner Jeff First passed around pictures of the inside of the 
building for Board members. Chairman Clegg asked if Board members had any questions. Set public 
hearing for August 25, 2010 meeting for Special Exception and Site Plan. Ms. Christiano paid $51.84 by 
check for the certified mailing and will bring $100.00 for the Site Plan application fee at the August 
meeting. Ms. Christiano was instructed to obtain a sign for the public hearing from the Town Office and 
place it under the sign station and will also need to bring a notarized letter from Ginsberg’s.  
 
Motion to adjourn meeting was made by David Graziano with a second from Stephen Melnyk. All 
members were in favor. Motion carried. Meeting was adjourned at 9:10 P.M. 
 
Respectfully submitted, 
Jodi Keyser 
Secretary 
 


